Table of Contents

Section 1.	Purpose and Scope
Section 2.	Definitions
Section 3.	License Required
Section 4.	Exceptions to License Requirement
Section 5.	Temporary Licensure or Registration for Emergency Independent Adjusters
Section 6.	Application for License
Section 7.	License
Section 8.	Examination
Section 9.	Exemptions from Examination
Section 10.	Nonresident License
Section 11.	Apprentice Independent Adjuster License [Optional]
Section 12.	License Denial, Non-Renewal, or Revocation
Section 13.	Continuing Education
Section 14.	Record Retention
Section 15.	Standards of Conduct of Independent Adjusters [Optional]
Section 16.	Reporting or Actions
Section 17.	Regulations
Section 18.	Severability
Section 19.	Effective Date

Section 1. **Purpose and Scope**

This Guideline governs the qualifications and procedures for licensing independent adjusters. It specifies the duties of and restrictions on independent adjusters.

Drafting Note: It is recommended that any statute or regulation inconsistent with this Guideline be repealed or amended.

Section 2. **Definitions**

- "Apprentice independent adjuster" means one who is qualified in all respects as an independent adjuster A. except as to experience, education and/or training.
- В. "Business entity" means a corporation, association, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or other legal entity.
- C. "Catastrophe" means an event that results in large numbers of deaths or injuries; causes extensive damage or destruction of facilities that provide and sustain human needs; produces an overwhelming demand on state and local response resources and mechanisms; causes a severe long-term effect on general economic activity; or severely affects state, local and private sector capabilities to begin and sustain response activities. A catastrophe shall be declared by the Governor of the state, district, or territory in which the catastrophe occurred.

Drafting Note: Some states may need to expand the authority to include the insurance commissioner or other eligible governmental or regulatory body, if they are authorized to declare a catastrophe.

"Fingerprints" for the purposes of this Guideline, means an impression of the lines on the finger taken for D. purpose of identification.

Drafting Note: States that require fingerprinting would incorporate this Section, states that do not require fingerprinting need to determine if this would

"Home state" means the District of Columbia and any state or territory of the United States in which an E. independent adjuster maintains his, her or its principal place of residence or business and is licensed to act as a resident independent adjuster. If the resident state does not license independent adjusters for the line of authority sought, the independent adjuster shall designate as his, her or its home state any state in which the independent adjuster is licensed and in good standing.

- F. "Independent adjuster" means a person who:
 - (1) Is an individual, a business entity, an independent contractor, or an employee of a contractor, who contracts for compensation with insurers or self-insurers;
 - One whom the insurer's or self-insurer's tax treatment of the individual is consistent with that of an independent contractor rather than as an employee, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, United States Code, Title 26, Subtitle C; and
 - (3) Investigates, negotiates or settles property, casualty or workers' compensation claims for insurers or for self-insurers.
- G. "Individual" means a natural person.
- H. "Insurer" means (insert reference to appropriate section of state law).
- I. "Person" means an individual or business entity.
- J. "Uniform Individual Application" means the current version of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Uniform Individual Application for resident and nonresident individuals.
- K. "Uniform Business Entity Application" means the current version of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Uniform Business Entity Application for resident and nonresident business entities.

Drafting Note: Subsection K is optional and only applies to those states that have a business entity license requirement.

Drafting Note: If any term is similarly defined in a relevant section of the state's insurance code, do not include the definition of the term in this Guideline or, in the alternative, reference the statute: "[term] is defined in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation]."

Section 3. License Required

A person shall not act or hold himself out as an independent adjuster in this state unless the person is licensed as an independent adjuster in accordance with this Guideline, or is exempt from licensure as an independent adjuster under this Guideline.

Section 4. Exceptions to License Requirement

The definition of independent adjuster shall not be deemed to include, and a license as an independent adjuster shall not be required of the following:

- A. Attorneys-at-law admitted to practice in this state, when acting in their professional capacity as an attorney;
- B. A person employed solely to obtain facts surrounding a claim or to furnish technical assistance to a licensed independent adjuster;
- C. An individual who is employed to investigate suspected fraudulent insurance claims but who does not adjust losses or determine claims payments;
- D. A person who solely performs executive, administrative, managerial or clerical duties or any combination thereof and who does not investigate, negotiate or settle claims with policyholders, claimants or their legal representative;
- E. A licensed health care provider or its employee who provides managed care services so longs as the services do not include the determination of compensability;
- F. A managed care organization or any of its employees or an employee of any organization providing managed care services so long as the services do not include the determination of compensability;
- G. A person who settles only reinsurance or subrogation claims;

- H. An officer, director, manager or employee of an authorized insurer, surplus lines insurer, a risk retention group, or an attorney-in-fact of a reciprocal insurer;
- I. A U.S. Manager of the United States branch of an alien insurer;
- A person who investigates, negotiates or settles life, accident and health, annuity, or disability insurance claims;
- K. An individual employee, under a self-insured arrangement, who adjust claims on behalf of their employer;
- L. A licensed insurance producer, attorney-in-fact of a reciprocal insurer or managing general agent of the insurer to whom claim authority has been granted by the insurer;
- M. A person authorized to adjust workers' compensation or disability claims under the authority of a third party administrator (TPA) license pursuant to [insert applicable licensing statute].

Drafting Note: This Guideline is drafted to eliminate redundant licensure requirements with respect to the activities engaged in by a licensee. If licensed as an independent adjuster, third party administrator or similar business entity, licensees should not be required to obtain separate independent adjuster licenses, provided that the types of claims adjusted do not include life, health, annuity, or disability insurance claims.

Section 5. Temporary Licensure or Registration for Emergency Independent Adjusters

- A. In the event of a declared catastrophe, an insurer shall notify the insurance commissioner via an application for temporary emergency licensure, or registration if temporary emergency licensure is not statutorily required, of each individual, not already licensed in the state where the catastrophe has been declared, that will act as an emergency independent adjuster on behalf of the insurer. The insurance commissioner shall establish standards and procedures to allow for the temporary emergency licensure or registration of an emergency independent adjuster in this state.
- B. A person who is otherwise qualified to adjust claims, but not already licensed in this state where the catastrophe has been declared, may act as an emergency independent adjuster and adjust claims, if, within five days of deployment to adjust claims arising from the declared catastrophe, the insurer notifies the commissioner by providing the following information in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner:
 - (1) Name of the individual;
 - (2) Social security number of individual;
 - (3) Name of insurer the independent adjuster will represent;
 - (4) Effective date of the contract between the insurer and independent adjuster;
 - (5) Catastrophe or loss control number;
 - (6) Catastrophe event name; and
 - (7) Other information the insurance commissioner deems necessary.

Drafting Note: The participating states, by rule, should clarify the state's meaning and application of "qualify" as used Section 5B.

C. An emergency independent adjuster's license or registration shall remain in force for a period not to exceed 90 days, unless extended by the insurance commissioner.

Drafting Note: The fee for emergency independent adjuster application for licensure or registration shall be in an amount determined by the insurance commissioner and shall be due and payable at the time of application for licensure or registration.

Drafting Note: The insurance commissioner may provide additional provisions that would trigger licensure or registration of an emergency independent adjuster.

Section 6. Application for License

- A. An individual applying for a resident independent adjuster license shall make application to the insurance commissioner on the appropriate NAIC Uniform Individual Application in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner and declare under penalty of suspension, revocation or refusal of the license that the statements made in the application are true, correct and complete to the best of the individual's knowledge and belief. Before approving the application, the insurance commissioner shall find that the individual:
 - (1) Is at least eighteen (18) years of age;
 - (2) Is eligible to designate this state as his or her home state;
 - (3) Is trustworthy, reliable and of good reputation, evidence of which shall be determined by the insurance commissioner;
 - (4) Has not committed any act that is a ground for probation, suspension, revocation or refusal of an independent adjuster's license as set forth in Section 12;
 - (5) Has completed a prelicensing course of study for the line(s) of authority for which the person has applied, where required by the insurance commissioner; and
 - (6) Has successfully passed the examination for the line(s) of authority for which the person has applied;
 - (7) Has paid the fees set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation.
- B. A business entity applying for a resident independent adjuster license shall make application to the insurance commissioner on the appropriate NAIC Uniform Business Entity Application in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner and declare under penalty of suspension, revocation or refusal of the license that the statements made in the application are true, correct and complete to the best of the business entity's knowledge and belief. Before approving the application, the insurance commissioner shall find that the business entity:
 - (1) Is eligible to designate this state as its home state;
 - (2) Has designated a licensed independent adjuster responsible for the business entities compliance with the insurance laws, rules and regulations of this state;
 - (3) Has not committed an act that is a ground for probation, suspension, revocation or refusal of an independent adjuster's license as set forth in Section 12; and
 - (4) Has paid the fees set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].

Drafting Note: This Section is optional and applies only to those states that have a business entity requirement.

Drafting Note: Employee of the authoritized affiliate insurer may be considered under this exemption with the Commissioner's consent.

C. In order to make a determination of license eligibility, the insurance commissioner is authorized to require fingerprints of applicants and to submit the fingerprints and the fee required to perform the criminal history record checks to the state identification bureau (or state department of justice public state agency) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) for state and national criminal history record checks.

Drafting Note: The FBI requires that fingerprints be submitted to the state Department of Law Enforcement, Public Safety or Criminal Justice for a check of state records before the fingerprints are submitted to the FBI for a criminal history record check. The FBI recommends all fingerprint submissions be in an electronic format. Public Law 92-544 requires specific parameters to submit fingerprints and obtain criminal history record information. The FBI has approved the language in Section 6C to authorize a state identification bureau to submit fingerprints on behalf of its applicants in conjunction with licensing and employment.

- D. The insurance commissioner shall require a criminal history record check on each applicant in accordance with this Guideline. The insurance commissioner shall require each applicant to submit a full set of fingerprints (including a scanned file from a hard copy fingerprint) in order for the insurance commissioner to obtain and receive national criminal history records from the FBI Criminal Justice Information Services Division.
- E. The insurance commissioner may contract for the collection and transmission of fingerprints authorized under this Guideline. If the insurance commissioner does so, the insurance commissioner may order the fee for collecting and transmitting fingerprints to be payable directly to the contractor by the applicant. The insurance commissioner may agree to a reasonable fingerprinting fee to be charged by the contractor.
- F. The insurance commissioner shall treat and maintain an applicant's fingerprints and any criminal history record information obtained under this Guideline as confidential and shall apply security measures consistent with the Criminal Justice Information Services Division of the Federal Bureau of Investigation standards for the electronic storage of fingerprints and necessary identifying information and limit the use of records solely to the purposes authorized in this Guideline. The fingerprints and any criminal history record information shall not be subject to subpoena, other than one issued in a criminal action or investigation, and shall be confidential.
- G. The insurance commissioner is authorized to receive criminal history record information from another government agency in lieu of the state identification bureau (or state department of justice or other public state agency) that submitted the fingerprints to the FBI.

Drafting Note: If the state has adopted fingerprint requirements for other classes of licenses, it may not necessary to adopt this language. This provision does not permit the sharing of criminal history record information with the NAIC or other insurance commissioners as such sharing of information is prohibited by 28 CFR 20.33.

H. The insurance commissioner may require any documents reasonably necessary to verify the information contained in the application.

Section 7. License

- A. Unless denied licensure pursuant to Section 12, persons who have met the requirements of Sections 6 and 8 shall be issued an independent adjuster license. An independent adjuster may qualify for a license in one or more of the following lines of authority:
 - (1) Property and Casualty; or
 - (2) Workers Compensation; or
 - (3) Crop.
- B. Any person holding a license pursuant to this provision shall not be required to hold any other independent adjuster, insurance or self-insurance administrator license in this state pursuant to [insert applicable TPA law cross reference] or any other provision, including, but not limited to, licenses by the [Workers Compensation Commissions, the Department of Labor or other applicable cross reference] provided that he, she or it does not Guideline as an independent adjuster with respect to life, health or annuity insurance, other than disability insurance.

Drafting Note: This Guideline is drafted to eliminate redundant licensure requirements with respect to the activities engaged in by the licensee. If licensed as an independent adjuster, third party administrator or similar business entity additional licenses should not be required provided that the type of claims adjusted do not include life, health, or annuity insurance claims, other than disability claims.

C. An independent adjuster license shall remain in effect unless probated, suspended, revoked or refused as long as the request for renewal and fee set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation] is paid and all other requirements for license renewal are met by the due date, otherwise the license expires.

- D. An independent adjuster whose license expires may, within twelve (12) months of the renewal date, be reissued an independent adjuster license upon receipt of the renewal request, as prescribed by the insurance commissioner. However, a penalty in the amount of double the unpaid renewal fee shall be required to reissue the expired license.
- E. An independent adjuster who is unable to comply with license renewal procedures and requirements due to military service, long-term medical disability or some other extenuating circumstance may request a waiver of same and a waiver of any examination requirement, fine or other sanction imposed for failure to comply with renewal procedures.

Drafting Note: Some states may not contain expiration date or reissue a license that has been discontinued for nonrenewal.

- F. An independent adjuster shall be subject to [cite state's Unfair Claims Settlement Act and state's Trade Practices and Fraud sections of the Insurance Code].
- G. The independent adjuster shall inform the insurance commissioner by any means acceptable of any change in resident or business address(es) for the home state or in legal name, within thirty (30) days of the change.
- H. The license shall contain the licensee's name, address, personal identification number, the date of issuance and expiration and any other information the insurance commissioner deems necessary.
- I. In order to assist in the performance of the insurance commissioner's duties, the insurance commissioner may contract with non-governmental entities, including the NAIC, its affiliates or subsidiaries, to perform any ministerial functions, including the collection of fees and data, related to licensing that the insurance commissioner may deem appropriate.

Section 8. Examination

- A. An individual applying for an independent adjuster license under this Guideline shall pass a written examination unless exempt pursuant to Section 9. The examination shall test the knowledge of the individual concerning, the lines of authority for which application is made, the duties and responsibilities of an independent adjuster and the insurance laws and regulations of this state. Examinations required by this Section shall be developed and conducted under rules and regulations prescribed by the insurance commissioner.
- B. The insurance commissioner may make arrangements, including contracting with an outside testing service, for administering examinations and collecting the nonrefundable fee set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].
- C. Each individual applying for an examination shall remit a non-refundable fee as prescribed by the insurance commissioner as set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].
- D. An individual who fails to appear for the examination as scheduled or fails to pass the examination shall reapply for an examination and remit all required fees and forms before being rescheduled for another examination.

Drafting Note: A state may wish to prescribe by regulation limitations on the frequency of application for examination in addition to other prelicensing requirements.

Drafting Note: If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include independent adjusters.

Section 9. Exemptions from Examination

- A. An individual who applies for an independent adjuster license in this state who is or was licensed in another state for the same line(s) of authority based on an independent adjuster examination shall not be required to complete any prelicensing education or examination. This exemption is only available if the person is currently licensed in another state or if that state license has expired and the application is received by this state within ninety (90) days of expiration. The applicant must provide certification from the other state that the applicant's license is currently in good standing or was in good standing at the time of expiration or certification from the other state that its Producer Database records, maintained by the NAIC, its affiliates or subsidiaries, indicate that the applicant or their company is or was licensed in good standing. The certification must be of a license with the same line of authority for which the individual has applied:
- B. A person licensed as an independent adjuster in another state based on an independent adjuster examination who establishes legal residency in this state shall make application within ninety (90) days to become a resident independent adjuster licensee pursuant to Section 6, with the exception that no prelicensing education or examination shall be required of this person;
- C. An individual who applies for an apprentice independent adjuster license, pursuant to Section 11, and who adjust claims in that capacity, shall not be required to take and successfully complete the independent adjuster examination.

Drafting Note: If the state does not adopt Section 11, Apprentice Independent Adjuster License, then 9C should be removed as an exemption from examination.

Drafting Note: If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this Section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include independent adjusters.

Section 10. Nonresident License

- A. Unless refused licensure pursuant to Section 12, a nonresident person shall receive a nonresident independent adjuster license if:
 - (1) The person is currently licensed in good standing as an independent adjuster in his, her, or its resident or home state;
 - (2) The person has submitted the proper request for licensure, has paid the fees required by [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation];
 - (3) The person has submitted or transmitted to the insurance commissioner the appropriate completed application for licensure; and
 - (4) The person's designated home state awards nonresident independent adjuster licenses to persons of this state on the same basis.
- B. The insurance commissioner may verify the independent adjuster's licensing status through any appropriate database, including the Producer Database maintained by the NAIC, its affiliates or subsidiaries, or may request certification of good standing as described in Section 9A of this Guideline.
- C. As a condition to the continuation of a nonresident independent adjuster license, the licensee shall maintain a resident independent adjuster license in his, her or its home state. The nonresident independent adjuster license issued under this Section shall terminate and be surrendered immediately to the insurance commissioner if the resident independent adjuster license terminates for any reason, unless the termination is due to the independent adjuster being issued a new resident independent adjuster license in his, her or its new home state. The new state resident independent adjuster license must have reciprocity with the licensing nonresident state(s) otherwise the nonresident independent adjuster license(s) will terminate. Notice of resident independent adjuster license termination must be given to any state(s) that issued a nonresident independent adjuster license. Notice must be given within thirty (30) days of the termination date; if terminated for change in resident home state then the notice must include both the previous and current address. Maintaining a resident independent adjuster license is required for the nonresident independent adjuster license(s) to remain valid.

Drafting Note: If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this Section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include independent adjusters.

Drafting Note: In accordance with Public Law No. 106-102 (the "Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act") states should not require any additional attachments to the Uniform Application or impose any other conditions on applicants that exceed the information requested within the Uniform Application.

Section 11. Apprentice Independent Adjuster License [Optional]

- A. The apprentice independent adjuster license is an optional license to facilitate the experience, education and/or training necessary to ensure reasonable competency of the responsibilities and duties of an independent adjuster as defined in this Guideline.
- B. An individual applying for a resident apprentice independent adjuster license shall make application to the insurance commissioner on the appropriate NAIC Uniform Individual Application in a format prescribed by the insurance commissioner and declare under penalty of suspension, revocation or refusal of the license that the statements made in the application are true, correct and complete to the best of the individual's knowledge and belief. Before approving the application, the insurance commissioner shall find that the individual:
 - (1) Is at least eighteen (18) years of age;
 - (2) Is a resident of this state and has designated this state as his or her home state;
 - (3) Has a business or mailing address in this state for acceptance of service of process;
 - (4) Has not committed any act that is a ground for probation, suspension, revocation or denial of licensure as set forth in Section 12;
 - (5) Is trustworthy, reliable and of good reputation, evidence of which may be determined by the insurance commissioner;
 - (6) Has paid the fees set forth in [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].
- C. The apprentice independent adjuster license shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (1) Accompanying the apprentice adjuster application shall be an attestation, from a licensed independent adjuster with the same line(s) of authority for which the apprentice has applied, certifying that the apprentice will be subject to training, direction and control by the licensed independent adjuster and further certifying that the licensed independent adjuster assumes responsibility for the actions of the apprentice in the apprentice's capacity as an independent adjuster;
 - (2) The apprentice independent adjuster is only authorized to adjust claims in the state that has issued the apprentice independent adjuster license;
 - (3) The apprentice licensee is restricted to participation in the investigation, settlement and negotiation of claims subject to the review and final determination of the claim by the supervising licensed independent adjuster;
 - (4) Compensation of an apprentice independent adjuster shall be on a salaried or hourly basis only;
 - (5) The apprentice independent adjuster shall not be required to take and successfully complete the independent adjuster examination pursuant to Section 8, to adjust claims as an apprentice independent adjuster. However, at any time during the apprenticeship the apprentice independent adjuster may choose to take the examination required by Section 8. If the individual takes and successfully completes the independent adjuster exam the apprentice independent adjuster license shall automatically terminate and an independent adjuster license shall be issued to that individual in place thereof;

- (6) The apprentice independent adjuster license is for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months and is nonrenewable; and
- (7) The licensee shall be subject to probation, suspension, revocation, or refusal pursuant to Section 12 of this Guideline.
- D. The licensed independent adjuster responsible for the apprentice independent adjuster, as stated in Section 11(C)(1), shall only supervise [insert appropriate reference to state law or regulation].

Section 12. License Denial, Non-Renewal, or Revocation

- A. The insurance commissioner may place on probation, suspend, revoke, or refuse to issue or renew an independent adjuster's license or may levy a civil penalty in accordance with [insert appropriate reference to state law] or any combination of the above actions for any one or more of the following causes:
 - (1) Providing incorrect, misleading, incomplete or materially untrue information in the license application;
 - (2) Violating any insurance laws, regulations, subpoena or order of the insurance commissioner or of another state's insurance commissioner;
 - (3) Obtaining or attempting to obtain a license through misrepresentation or fraud;
 - (4) Improperly withholding, misappropriating, or converting any monies or properties received in the course of doing insurance business;
 - (5) Intentionally misrepresenting the terms of an actual or proposed insurance contract or application for insurance;
 - (6) Having been convicted of a felony;
 - (7) Having admitted or been found to have committed any insurance unfair trade practice or fraud;
 - (8) Using fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices, or demonstrating incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility, in the conduct of insurance business in this state or elsewhere;
 - (9) Having an insurance license, or its equivalent, probated, suspended, revoked or refused in any other state, province, district, or territory;
 - (10) Forging another's name to any document related to an insurance transaction;
 - (11) Cheating, including improperly using notes or any other reference material, to complete an examination for an insurance license;
 - (12) Failing to comply with an administrative or court order imposing a child support obligation; or
 - Failing to pay state income tax or comply with any administrative or court order directing payment of state income tax which remains unpaid.

Drafting Note: Paragraph (13) is for those states that have a state income tax.

B. In the event that the action by the insurance commissioner is to refuse application for licensure or renewal of an existing license, the insurance commissioner shall notify the applicant or licensee in writing, advising of the reason for the refusal. The applicant or licensee may make written demand upon the insurance commissioner within [insert appropriate time period from state's Administrative Procedure Act] for a hearing before the insurance commissioner to determine the reasonableness of the refusal. The hearing shall be held within [insert time period from state law] and shall be held pursuant to [insert appropriate reference to state law].

- C. The license of a business entity may be probated, suspended, revoked, or refused if the insurance commissioner finds, after a hearing, that its designated individual licensee's violation occurred while acting on behalf of or representing the business entity and that the violation was known or should have been known by one or more of the business entity's partners, officers or managers and that the violation was neither reported to the insurance commissioner nor was corrective action taken.
- D. In addition to or in lieu of any applicable probation, suspension, revocation or refusal, a person may, after a hearing, additionally be subject to a civil fine according to [insert appropriate reference to state law].
- E. The insurance commissioner shall retain the authority to enforce the provisions of and impose any penalty or remedy authorized by this Guideline and Title [insert appropriate reference to state law] against any person who is under investigation for or charged with a violation of this Guideline or Title [insert appropriate reference to state law] even if the person's license or registration has been surrendered or has expired by operation of law.

Section 13. Continuing Education

- A. An individual, who holds an independent adjuster license and who is not exempt under Subsection B of this Section, shall satisfactorily complete a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours of continuing education courses, of which three (3) hours must be in ethics, reported to the insurance commissioner on a biennial basis in conjunction with their license renewal cycle.
- B. This Section shall not apply to:
 - (1) Licensees not licensed for one (1) full year prior to the end of the applicable continuing education biennium; or
 - (2) Licensees holding nonresident independent adjuster licenses who have met the continuing education requirements of their designated home state.

Section 14. Record Retention

An independent adjuster shall maintain a copy of each contract between the independent adjuster and the insurer or self-insurer and comply with the record retention policy as agreed to in that contract.

Section 15. Standards of Conduct of Independent Adjusters [Optional]

- A. An independent adjuster shall be honest and fair in all communications with the insured, the insurer and the public;
- B. An independent adjuster shall give policyholders and claimants prompt, knowledgeable service and courteous, fair and objective treatment at all times;
- C. An independent adjuster shall not give legal advice, and shall not deal directly with any policyholder or claimant who is represented by legal counsel without the consent of the legal counsel involved;
- D. An independent adjuster shall comply with all local, state and federal privacy and information security laws, if applicable;
- E. An independent adjuster shall identify himself as an independent adjuster and, if applicable, identify his employer when dealing with any policyholder or claimant; and
- F. An independent adjuster shall not have any financial interest in any adjustment or acquire for himself or any person any interest or title in salvage, without first receiving written authority from the principal.

Section 16. Reporting of Actions

- A. The independent adjuster shall report to the insurance commissioner any administrative action taken against the independent adjuster in another jurisdiction or by another governmental agency in this state within thirty (30) days of the final disposition of the matter. This report shall include a copy of the order, consent order and any other relevant legal documents.
- B. The independent adjuster shall report to the insurance commissioner any criminal action taken against the independent adjuster in this or any jurisdiction within thirty (30) days of the final disposition of the criminal matter. The report shall include a copy of the initial complaint filed, the final order issued by the court, and any other relevant legal documents.

Drafting Note: If the state has adopted the Producer Licensing Model Act, it may not be necessary to adopt this Section. Rather, the state may want to amend its relevant insurance producer statute to include independent adjusters.

Section 17. Regulations

The insurance commissioner may, in accordance with [insert appropriate reference to state law], promulgate reasonable regulations as are necessary or proper to carry out the purposes of this Guideline.

Section 18. Severability

If any provisions of this Guideline, or the application of a provision to any person or circumstances, shall be held invalid, the remainder of the Guideline, and the application of the provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected.

Section 19. Effective Date

This Guideline shall take effect [insert date].

Note: A minimum of six months to one year implementation time for proper notice of changes, fees and procures is recommended.

Chronological Summary of Action (all references are to the Proceedings of the NAIC)

2008 Proc. 3rd Quarter, Vol. I 128, 147, 167, 173, 511-523 (adopted).

1224-11

Independent Adjuster Licensing Guideline

This page is intentionally left blank

This chart is intended to provide readers with additional information to more easily access state statutes, regulations, bulletins or administrative rulings related to the NAIC model. Such guidance provides readers with a starting point from which they may review how each state has addressed the model and the topic being covered. The NAIC Legal Division has reviewed each state's activity in this area and has determined whether the citation most appropriately fits in the Model Adoption column or Related State Activity column based on the definitions listed below. The NAIC's interpretation may or may not be shared by the individual states or by interested readers.

This chart does not constitute a formal legal opinion by the NAIC staff on the provisions of state law and should not be relied upon as such. Nor does this state page reflect a determination as to whether a state meets any applicable accreditation standards. Every effort has been made to provide correct and accurate summaries to assist readers in locating useful information. Readers should consult state law for further details and for the most current information.

This page is intentionally left blank

NAIC MEMBER	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Alabama	ALA. ADMIN. CODE r. 482-1-15101 to 482-1-15116 (2012/2018) (adopted).
Alaska	ALASKA STAT. §§ 21.27.010 to 21.27.460 (1966/2014); §§ 21.27.830 to 21.27.870 (1992/2001) (adopted).
American Samoa	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Arizona	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Arkansas	ARK. CODE ANN. § 23-64-209 (1959/2017).
California	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Colorado	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Connecticut	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Delaware	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
District of Columbia	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Florida	FLA. ADMIN CODE r. § 69B-220.001 (1993/2010) (licensure of emergency adjusters).
Georgia	GA. CODE ANN. § 33-23-29 (1992/2019).
Guam	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Hawaii	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Idaho	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Illinois	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Indiana	IND. CODE §§ 27-1-28-1 to 27-1-28-24 (2011/2018) (adopted).
Iowa	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Kansas	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Kentucky	Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 304.9-430 (1970/2019).
Louisiana	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Maine	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY

NAIC MEMBER	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
Maryland	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Massachusetts	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Michigan	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Minnesota	MINN. STAT. ANN. §§ 72B.01 to 72B.14 (1971/2019) (adopted).
Mississippi	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Missouri	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Montana	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Nebraska	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Nevada	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
New Hampshire	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
New Jersey	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
New Mexico	N.M. CODE R. § 13.4.8 (2019).
New York	N.Y. Ins. Law § 2101 (2008/2014); § 2108 (1984/2019) (adopted).
North Carolina	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
North Dakota	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Northern Marianas	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Ohio	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Oklahoma	OKLA. STAT. tit. 36, §§ 6201 to 6222 (1973/2019) (adopted).
Oregon	OR. REV. STAT. ANN. § 744.535 (1967/1991) (examination).
Pennsylvania	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Puerto Rico	P.R. REGS. OCS REG. 8646 (2015) (adopted).
Rhode Island	R.I. GEN. LAWS §§ 27-10-1 to 27-10-14 (2014); BULLETIN 2014-8 (2014); 230- 20- R.I. CODE R. §50-4 (2015) (adopted).
South Carolina	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY

NAIC MEMBER	RELATED STATE ACTIVITY
South Dakota	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Tennessee	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Texas	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Utah	UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 31A-26-201 to 31A-26-216 (1985/2019) (adopted).
Vermont	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Virgin Islands	V.I. CODE ANN. tit. 22, § 767 (2017).
Virginia	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Washington	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
West Virginia	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Wisconsin	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY
Wyoming	NO CURRENT ACTIVITY

This page is intentionally left blank